## INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

MILBANK INSURANCE COMPANY,	:	ICA EFiled: Aug 24 2023 12:56PM EDT Transaction ID 70710542
Appellant, Plaintiff	:	
Below	:	
	:	Appeal No. 23-ICA-213
VS.	:	Civil Action No. 20-C-208
	:	Judge David J. Sims
	:	
NICK SHOWALTER and KELLY	:	
MATTSON, Co-Administrators of the	:	
ESTATE OF SIERRA MATTSON,	:	
	:	
Appellees, Defendants	:	
Below	:	
	:	

## **BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

William M. Harter (WVSB 7977) Elise N. McQuain (WVSB 12253) FROST BROWN TODD LLP 10 West Broad Street, Suite 2300 Columbus, Ohio 43215 (614) 464-1211 wharter@fbtlaw.com emcquain@fbtlaw.com

#### I. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

Petitioner Milbank Insurance Company ("Milbank") appeals an Order from the Circuit

Court of Ohio County on cross motions for summary judgment ("the Order") on two grounds:

- A. The Circuit Court erred when it held that Mr. Ratcliffe's liability for Ms. Mattson's injury does "arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle.
- B. The Circuit Court erred when it failed to hold that the anti-stacking language in the Milbank Policy prevented the Estate from recovering UIM proceeds after receiving liability coverage proceeds under the same policy.

#### II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### A. Overview

None of the facts in this action are in dispute, and this action instead involves only questions of law.

Milbank issued an automobile policy of insurance ("the Milbank Policy") to Sierra Mattson. Ms. Mattson died in an accident ("the Accident") while traveling as a passenger in her own vehicle. Caleb Ratcliffe was driving Ms. Mattson's vehicle at the time of the Accident.

While paying the Milbank Policy's liability proceeds to the Estate and other claimants, Milbank denied the Estate's claim for underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage. Milbank later filed a declaratory judgment action to confirm that it did not owe UIM coverage to the Estate. After discovery, Milbank and the Estate each filed a motion for summary judgment regarding the issue of UIM coverage. In the Order, the Circuit Court granted the Estate's motion and denied Milbank's, holding that the Estate was entitled to UIM coverage under the Milbank Policy.

The Circuit Court reached this decision by expressly concluding that the Milbank Policy did not require an underinsured motor vehicle to have been involved in the Accident, despite language in the Milbank Policy indicating that an owner's or operator's liability "must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of such a vehicle to give rise to UIM coverage. The Court also reached this decision despite anti-stacking language in the Milbank Policy which indicates that no one will be entitled to recover both liability proceeds and UIM proceeds for the same elements of loss.

Both aspects of the Order are wrong. And, if this Court agrees that either aspect of the Order is wrong, or that both are, this Court must reverse the Order and remand this matter to the Circuit Court for an entry of judgment in Milbank's favor on its claim for declaratory relief.

#### **B.** The Accident

On November 23, 2019, Ms. Mattson died as a result of the Accident. (A.R. 084-085.) At the time, Ms. Mattson was riding as a passenger in a vehicle she owned. (A.R. 085.) Mr. Ratcliffe was driving Ms. Mattson's vehicle with her permission. (A.R. 086.) There is no dispute that the Accident was Mr. Ratcliffe's fault, as he was driving the wrong direction and collided with an on-coming vehicle. (A.R. 086-089.)

At the time of the Accident, Mr. Ratcliffe owned a separate vehicle which he insured through Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company ("Erie"). (A.R. 031.) There is no dispute that Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was not involved in the Accident. (A.R. 086.)

### C. The Insurance Claims

The Estate and other parties involved in the Accident made liability claims against Mr. Ratcliffe under the policy Erie had issued to him and, because he was a permissive user of Ms. Mattson's vehicle, under the Milbank Policy that Milbank had issued to Ms. Mattson. (A.R. 031-032.) Milbank and Erie both paid the Estate and the other claimants from their policies' liability coverages. (A.R. 032.)

The Estate also made a UIM claim under the Milbank Policy. (A.R. 034-035.) Milbank denied this claim. (A.R. 035.) After the Estate disagreed with the denial, Milbank filed a

declaratory judgment action in the Circuit Court. (A.R. 001-023.) Therein, Milbank sought an order that it does not owe UIM coverage to the Estate. (A.R. 001-023.)

## **D.** The Milbank Policy

The UIM coverage within the Milbank Policy is contained in a West Virginia Uninsured /

Underinsured Motorists Coverage Endorsement. (A.R. 108-111.) According to the pertinent

portion of the applicable Insuring Agreement:

- A. We will pay compensatory damages which an "insured" is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle" where such coverage is indicated as applicable in the Schedule or in the Declarations because of:
  - 1. "Bodily injury" sustained by an "insured" and caused by an accident; and
  - 2. "Property damage" caused by an accident.

The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle".

(A.R. 108. Emphasis added.)

The Milbank Policy defines an "underinsured motor vehicle" in pertinent part as:

D. "Underinsured motor vehicle" means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but the amount paid for "bodily injury" or "property damage" to an "insured" under that bond or policy is not enough to pay the full amount the "insured" is legally entitled to recover as damages.<sup>1</sup>

(A.R. 108.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Milbank Policy's insuring agreement and definition of "underinsured motor vehicle" are consistent with West Virginia Code § 33-6-31(b), which provides in pertinent part, "'Underinsured motor vehicle' means a motor vehicle with respect to the ownership, operation or use of which there is liability insurance applicable at the time of the accident, but the limits of that insurance are either: (i) Less than limits the insured carried for underinsured motorists' coverage; or (ii) has been reduced by payments to others injured in the accident to limits less than limits the insured carried for underinsured motorists' coverage." (Emphasis added.)

The Milbank Policy also contains the following Limit of Liability:

## B. No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A of this Policy.

(A.R. 110. Emphasis added.) Part A of the Milbank Policy provides the liability coverage thereunder. (A.R. 097.)

### E. The Estate's Responses to Milbank's Requests for Admission Regarding "Underinsured Motor Vehicle"

In an effort to shape the issues presented to the Circuit Court, Milbank served a series of

requests for admission on the Estate. (A.R. 084-094.) Two of the Estate's responses read:

<u>REQUEST NO. 33:</u> Admit that Caleb Ratcliffe was not the driver of an underinsured vehicle involved in the accident.

ANSWER: Admit.

<u>REQUEST NO. 12:</u> Admit that the vehicle upon which you rely to assert your entitlement to underinsured motorist coverage benefits under Ms. Mattson's policy of insurance bearing number 1000332816 issued by Milbank Insurance Company is a vehicle owned by Caleb Ratcliffe that was "at home" at the time of the November 23, 2019, accident. *See* July 2, 2020, Letter, attached as Exhibit 1.

**ANSWER:** Deny. Defendant/Counterclaimant does not rely upon a vehicle, but rather the language in the Milbank policy issued to Sierra Mattson. The Ratcliffe vehicle is insured under a policy that provided liability coverage for the collision.

(A.R. 091, A.R. 087.) These responses confirm that (1) the Estate is not asserting that Ms. Mattson's vehicle, which Mr. Ratcliffe was driving, was an underinsured motor vehicle; but (2) the Estate is instead asserting that Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was an underinsured motor vehicle.

#### F. The Order

After making findings of fact consistent with the foregoing discussion, the Circuit Court entered summary judgment in favor of the Estate and against Milbank. (A.R. 156-164.) According to the Order, Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle "was an underinsured motorist [*sic*] as defined by West

Virginia Code §33-6-31(b) on the date of the subject crash," and Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle "was also an underinsured motor vehicle under the [Milbank Policy] pursuant to the language of the policy." (A.R. 162.)

The Order also indicates, "There is no provision within the [Milbank Policy] that requires the underinsured motor vehicle actually be involved in the accident that triggers the underinsured motorist bodily injury coverage." (A.R. 162.) The Order continues, "Further, Mr. Ratcliffe's ownership of the underinsured vehicle is sufficient to trigger the underinsured motorist bodily injury coverage under the [Milbank Policy]." (A.R. 162.) The Circuit Court therefore concludes that allowing UIM proceeds to be recovered in these circumstances under the Milbank Policy is "consistent with the underinsured motorist statute as set forth in W. Va. Code §33-6-31(b) and the preeminent public policy of the underinsured motorist statute." (A.R. 163.)

The Order does not discuss the anti-stacking limitation within the Milbank Policy or explain why it does not preclude the Estate's recovery of UIM proceeds in this instance. (A.R. 156-164.)

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in entering summary judgment for the Estate, rather than for Milbank, in two ways.

First, Mr. Ratcliffe's liability for the Accident does not "arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle, the purported underinsured motor vehicle. Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was not involved in the Accident, and Mr. Ratcliffe was instead driving Ms. Mattson's vehicle at the time of the Accident. As such, no UIM coverage exists for this claim.

Second, the Circuit Court erred by not applying the anti-stacking limitation of liability within the Milbank Policy's UIM coverage. Pursuant to that limitation, the Estate cannot recover

both liability coverage proceeds and UIM coverage proceeds. Because the Estate has already recovered liability coverage proceeds, the Estate has no viable UIM claim.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is appropriate in this action under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, as this matter involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and a narrow issue of law.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. Statement of Jurisdiction and Standard of Review

#### **1.** This Court Has Jurisdiction over This Appeal.

The Order resolved all aspects of Milbank's declaratory judgment claim, and the Circuit Court certified the Order as a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, in denying the Estate's Motion to Dismiss Appeal as Interlocutory, this Court has already confirmed that it has jurisdiction over this appeal.

### 2. Standard of Review

A Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v*. *Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 190, 451 S.E.2d 755, 756 (1994). Conducting a *de novo* review means giving "a new, complete and unqualified review to the parties' arguments and the record before the circuit court." *Edward S. v. Raleigh County Housing Auth.*, 889 S.E.2d 31, 36 (W.Va. 2023).

#### **B.** Standard for Summary Judgment

Summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Civ. R. 56(c). "Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving

party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syl. Pt. 4, *Painter*, 192 W.Va. at 190.

#### C. Standard for Interpreting an Insurance Contract, Including UIM Coverage

An insurance policy is a contract, and "[d]etermination of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute is a question of law." Syl. Pt. 1, *Tennant v. Smallwood*, 211 W.Va. 703, 704, 568 S.E.2d 10, 11 (2002). For almost a century, the Supreme Court of Appeals has recognized, "Policies of insurance, like other contracts, must receive a reasonable interpretation consonant with the apparent object and plain intent of the parties." Syl. Pt. 3, *Kanawha Inv. Co. v. Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection and Ins. Co.*, 107 W.Va. 555, 149 S.E. 605 (1929).

"Where the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended." Syl., *Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.*, 153 W.Va. 813, 172 S.E.2d 714 (1970). See also, Syl. Pt. 1, *Murray v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 203 W.Va. 477, 479, 509 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1998) (a court interpreting an insurance policy should give the language of the policy "its plain, ordinary meaning."). A policy's language is only ambiguous when it is "reasonably susceptible of two different meanings or is of such doubtful meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning[.]" Syl. Pt. 2, *Murray*, 203 W.Va. at 479.

With regard to UIM coverage, "[i]nsurers may incorporate such terms, conditions and exclusions in an automobile insurance policy as may be consistent with the premium charged, so long as any such exclusions do not conflict with the spirit and intent of the uninsured and underinsured motorists statutes." Syl. Pt. 3, *Deel v. Sweeney*, 181 W.Va. 460, 460-461, 383 S.E.2d 92, 92-93 (1989).

At the end of the day, "a court should read policy provisions to avoid ambiguities and not torture language to create them." *Payne v. Weston*, 195 W.Va. 502, 507, 466 S.E.2d 161, 166 (1995).

## D. The Circuit Court erred when it held that Mr. Ratcliffe's liability for Ms. Mattson's injury does "arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle.

For the Estate to recover UIM proceeds under the Milbank Policy, Mr. Ratliffe's liability for Ms. Mattson's death "must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of an underinsured motor vehicle. Similarly, under the West Virginia Code, UIM coverage is tied to "the ownership, operation or use" of a vehicle with insufficient liability coverage. W.Va. Code § 33-6-31(b).

By admitting that Mr. Ratcliffe "was not the driver of an underinsured motor vehicle involved in the accident," the Estate has already conceded that Ms. Mattson's vehicle was not such a vehicle. Therefore, the Estate can only recover UIM proceeds by establishing that Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was an underinsured motor vehicle and that Ms. Mattson's death arose out of its ownership, maintenance or use.

The Estate cannot make this showing, however, because Ms. Mattson's death did not "arise out of" Mr. Ratcliffe's "ownership, maintenance or use" of Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle. Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was indisputably not involved in the Accident. The Accident occurred while Mr. Ratcliffe was using Ms. Mattson's vehicle, not Mr. Ratcliffe's. Mr. Ratcliffe's liability for Ms. Mattson's death had nothing to do with his "ownership" or "maintenance" of any vehicle, and it only arose out of Mr. Ratcliffe's "use" of Ms. Mattson's vehicle.

The Circuit Court held that nothing in the Milbank Policy "requires the underinsured motor vehicle actually be involved in the accident that triggers the [UIM] coverage." (A.R. 108.) This is wrong. In order for an injury to "arise out of" the use of a motor vehicle – as the Milbank Policy requires – there must be:

a causal connection between the use of the motor vehicle and the injury. Such causal connection must be more than incidental, fortuitous or but for. The injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle.

*Baber v. Fortner*, 186 W.Va. 413, 417, 412 S.E.2d 814, 819 (1991), citing *Detroit Auto. Inter-Insurance Exchange v. Higginbotham*, 95 Mich. App. 213, 290 N.W.2d 414, 419 (1980). In *Baber*, the Supreme Court therefore held that an injury following an intentional shooting from a vehicle did not "arise out of" the use of the vehicle, because shooting someone is not "foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle." *Id*.

Federal courts applying West Virginia law have similarly constrained the instances when an injury "arises out of" the use of a vehicle. In *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Shumate*, 63 F.Supp.2d 745 (S.D.W.Va. 1999), for example, an insured sought uninsured motorist coverage after he was assaulted in a post-accident altercation. *Id.* at 746. That coverage was only available for injuries "arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of a vehicle. *Id.* Relying on *Baber*, the District Court held that the insured had not suffered any such injuries, because his injuries were not "foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of a vehicle." *Id.* at 747. See also, *Erie Ins. Prop.* & *Cas. Co. v. Jones*, 2011 WL 1743665, \*4 (S.D.W.Va.) (officer's estate was not entitled to recover UIM proceeds after officer was accidentally shot by a fellow officer, because officer's death did not arise out of a criminal suspect's normal use of a vehicle; suspect was using vehicle as a battering ram at the time of the shooting).

Under *Baber*, *Shumate* and *Jones*, there must be "normal use" of an underinsured motor vehicle for covered injuries to then "arise" therefrom by having a causal connection thereto. In this action, however, there was no use at all of the purportedly underinsured motor vehicle. There can be no connection whatsoever between Mr. Ratcliffe's use of his vehicle and Ms. Mattson's death, because there was no use of that vehicle in the Accident. Without any connection or any

use whatsoever, there is certainly no causal connection between Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle and Ms. Mattson's death. Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle simply had no role in the Accident, and it certainly had less connection to the Accident than the vehicles in the foregoing decisions had to those insureds' claims.

*Cox v. Amick*, 195 W.Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459 (1995) is also instructive. In the facts giving rise to *Cox*, four high school boys spent a morning smoking marijuana and drinking alcohol. At a gas station, one of the boys, Clifford Reed, exited the vehicle to make a purchase. The other three boys drove away from the gas station without Reed, went left of center, and collided with and killed an oncoming motorist. Reed was not the owner of the vehicle, the driver of the vehicle, or present in the vehicle at the time of the accident *Id*. at 611.

The decedent's estate nevertheless asserted an uninsured motorist claim based on Reed's misconduct. Although the Circuit Court allowed this claim, the Supreme Court of Appeals reversed that decision. Under the decedent's policy, uninsured motorist proceeds were only recoverable for damages "arising out of the ownership; maintenance; or use; of the uninsured motor vehicle." *Id.* at 616. The Supreme Court held, pursuant to the applicable "arising out of" language in the decedent's policy:

[T]he insured or relative may not recover damages pursuant to his or her uninsured motorists coverage from a person *who was not occupying an uninsured motor vehicle* <u>involved in</u> <u>the accident</u> when it occurred and *who was not the owner* or driver of the uninsured motor vehicle <u>involved in the</u> <u>accident</u> even though such person may be liable to the insured or relative under other appropriate causes of action.

#### *Id.* at 618. (Emphasis added.)

Like Reed, Mr. Ratcliffe was not "occupying" the purported underinsured motor vehicle – his vehicle – at the time of this Accident. And, like any vehicle Reed might have owned, Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle was not "involved in the Accident." As such, *Cox* offers additional support for

the conclusion that Milbank is entitled to judgment on its claim for declaratory relief, not the Estate.

The Estate as a matter of law cannot meet the "arising out of ownership, maintenance or use" requirement for Mr. Ratcliffe's vehicle to establish UIM coverage under the Milbank Policy. As such, Milbank urges the Court to reverse the Order and remand this action to the Circuit Court for an entry of judgment in Milbank's favor.

## E. The Circuit Court erred when it failed to hold that the anti-stacking language in the Milbank Policy prevented the Estate from recovering UIM proceeds after receiving liability coverage proceeds under the same policy.

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