#### INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

MILBANK INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant, Plaintiff Below,

v.

ICA EFiled: Oct 09 2023 02:50PM EDT Transaction ID 71045816

Appeal No. 23-ICA-213 Civil Action No. 20-C-208 Judge David J. Sims

NICK SHOWALTER and KELLY MATTSON, Co-Administrators of the ESTATE OF SIERRA MATTSON,

Appellees, Defendants Below.

# **RESPONSE BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

JAMES G. BORDAS III (#8518) RICHARD A. MONAHAN (#6489) MATTHEW C. SCHREBE (#11972) BORDAS & BORDAS, PLLC 1358 National Road Wheeling, WV 26003 Telephone: 304-242-8410 jbordasiii@bordaslaw.com rmonahan@bordaslaw.com mschrebe@bordaslaw.com *Counsel for Appellees/Defendants* 

# **

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

Lastly, it should be noted that the Appellant has attempted to support its argument on this assignment of error by citing and discussing three cases which were not submitted to the Circuit

Court below for its consideration. *See Baber v. Fortner*, 186 W.Va. 413, 412 S.E.2d 814 (1991); *Erie Ins. Prop. & Cas. Co. v. Jones*, Civil Action No. 2:10-CV-00479, 2011 WL 1743665 (S.D.W.Va. May 6, 2011); *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Shumate*, 63 F. Supp.2d 745 (S.D.W.Va. 1999). Because these cases were in existence before the cross motions for summary judgment were filed in this case, the Appellants' failure to raise them in support of its argument to the Circuit Court should result in this Court refusing to consider them under the "raise or waive" rule which is discussed in much greater detail *infra* in connection with the next assignment of error. However, in the event that this Court decides to consider these cases, they are either readily distinguishable or otherwise unpersuasive.

The decision in *Baber v. Fortner*, *supra*, involved a question of whether liability coverage was applicable under an automobile policy so as to require an insurer to defend a wrongful death action against an insured who while occupying his stationary pickup truck had shot and killed a man. The *Baber* Court was not faced with any question involving underinsured motorist coverage or the statute providing for underinsured motorist coverage that is to be liberally construed so as to effectuate its purpose of providing underinsured motorist coverage to an injured person who has not been fully compensated for her injuries and damages by any liability coverage of a tortfeasor. *See Baber*, 186 W.Va. at 414-18, 412 S.E.2d at 815-19.

And, in the present case, there is no dispute that Caleb Ratcliffe's own insurer, Erie, decided to pay its full liability limits for the negligent or reckless acts of Mr. Ratcliffe based upon another motor vehicle that, while not actually in use and involved in the collision, was owned by Mr. Ratcliffe (and/or his family) and insured by Erie. Furthermore, it is not disputed that the liability limits paid were insufficient to fully compensate the Appellees for injuries suffered by their decedent, Seirra Mattson, to which they are entitled to recover. Accordingly, the question of

what constitutes "arising out of the 'use' of a motor vehicle" so as to trigger the relevant basis for liability coverage in dispute in *Baber* is not at issue herein. *See Baber*, 186 W.Va. at 417, 412 S.E.2d at 818 (citing *Detroit Auto. Inter-Insurance Exchange v. Higginbotham*, 95 Mich. App. 213, 290 N.W.2d 414, 419 (1980)).

The federal court decision in *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Shumate, supra*, is neither binding on this Court nor otherwise persuasive. First, this appeal involves underinsured motorist coverage while Shumate involved uninsured motorist coverage. As noted by the Court in Deel v. Sweeney, 181 W.Va. at 463, 383 S.E.2d at 95, and as previously discussed herein, uninsured motorist coverage and underinsured motorist coverage are not always viewed in the same light or treated identically. Next, the plaintiff in Shumate did not receive any injuries as a result of any motor vehicle, whether uninsured or underinsured. Rather, the plaintiff received injuries in a subsequent physical altercation with the person whom had driven an uninsured motor vehicle that had caused a prior collision. Indeed, the only insurance question at issue in Shumate involved what constituted the "use" of a vehicle resulting in the court noting "[w]hen . . . the 'use' of a vehicle is in question for insurance purposes due to the separation of an individual from a vehicle at the time of an accident, the court must determine whether there is a causal connection between the motor vehicle and the injury." Shumate, 63 F. Supp.2d at 747 (quoting Cleaver v. Big Arm Bar & Grill, Inc., 202 W.Va. 122, 127, 502 S.E.2d 438, 443 (1998)). In the present case, it was the ownership of a motor vehicle by Caleb Ratcliffe (and/or his family) which was insured by Erie, not its use, that caused Erie to pay its liability coverage limits under its automobile policy; thereby rendering it an underinsured motor vehicle for the purposes of the underinsured motorist coverage contained in the Milbank policy and governed by West Virginia statutory law.

The federal court decision in *Erie Ins. Property & Cas. Co. v. Jones, supra*, which involved the accidental shooting death of a police officer by friendly fire when the police were attempting to apprehend a suspect who was fleeing in a truck and was attempting to avoid capture by ramming his truck into police vehicles, is also not binding on this Court or otherwise is not persuasive. First, the *Jones* Court relied upon the holdings of *Baber* and *Shumate* in reaching its holding that the injuries did not arise out of the ownership or use of an underinsured motor vehicle. *See Jones*, 2011 WL 1743665, at \*\*3-4. To the extent that the Appellees have already explained why *Baber* and *Shumate* are distinguishable or otherwise unpersuasive, such reasoning similarly applies to *Jones*. Second, the *Jones* Court concluded that even if it would hold that the injuries arose out of the ownership or use of a motor vehicle, the insured would not be entitled to underinsured motorist benefits because a valid exclusion applied to bar coverage where the bodily injury resulted from accidental or intentional use of any weapon. *Jones*, 2011 WL 1743665, at \*4. Obviously, no such valid exclusion applies in this appeal.

- E. The Circuit Court did not err when it held that Ms. Mattson's Estate is entitled under the Milbank policy to liability coverage for Mr. Ratcliffe's operation of her motor vehicle insured under her policy with Milbank and for underinsured motorist coverage for Mr. Ratcliffe's own motor vehicle which was insured under a separate insurance policy with another insurer that paid its liability limits for such vehicle owned by Mr. Ratcliffe.
  - 1. Appellant has waived any argument that the provision against duplicate payments (which it labels as anti-stacking provision herein) prohibits payment for both liability and underinsured motorist coverages in this case and entitles it to an award of summary judgment by failing to raise it before the Circuit Court in its motion for summary judgment and supporting memoranda.

Nowhere in its complaint for declaratory judgment, its motion for summary judgment and/or supporting memorandum of law, or its reply brief in support of its motion for summary judgment did the Appellant use the term "anti-stacking" or expressly argue that Appellees' claims for coverage involve a violation of an "anti-stacking" provision.<sup>1</sup> See A.R. 001-012; 046-072 & 134-154. And, while Appellant did quote the provision against duplicate payments for the same elements of loss and assert a claim thereunder in its complaint for declaratory judgment, A.R. 005, 007, & 010-011, nowhere in its motion for summary judgment and/or supporting memorandum of law, or its reply brief in support of its motion for summary judgment did the Appellant make an argument that the provision against making duplicate payments applied in this case so as to entitle it to summary judgment on its complaint for declaratory judgment or to prevent the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment on their cross motion. See A.R. 046-072 & 134-154. Similarly, while the Appellant did include the provision against making duplicate payments in the portion of its supporting memorandum of law that quoted from the Milbank insurance policy, A.R. at 055 & 058, nowhere in its motion for summary judgment, supporting memorandum of law, or reply brief did it make an express argument that such provision was applicable and entitled it to an award of summary judgment or prevented the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment or the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment or prevented the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment or prevented the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment or prevented the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment or the provision was applicable and entitled it to an award of summary judgment or prevented the Appellees from obtaining summary judgment on their cross motion. See A.R. 046-072 & 134-154.

Numerous decisions of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals establish that a party may not raise an issue or argument for the first time on appeal. Rather, the "raise or waive" rule provides that a party waives for purposes of appeal any nonjurisdictional issue or argument that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant's attempt to label the provision prohibiting duplicate payments for the same elements of loss as an "anti-stacking" provision appears to be a misnomer. An anti-stacking provision generally seeks to prohibit an insured who has multiple vehicles insured by an insurer from stacking the applicable type of coverage (not different types of coverage) available to each vehicle; instead limiting the insured to a single policy endorsement for such type of coverage for each occurrence. *See, e.g.*, Syl. Pt. 5, *Russell v. State Auto. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 188 W.Va. 81, 422 S.E.2d 803 (1992) (uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage); Syl. Pt. 11, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002) (same); Syl. Pt. 4, *Miller v. Lemon*, 194 W.Va. 129, 459 S.E.2d 406 (1995) (same); Syl. Pt. 2, *Mitchell v. Federal Kemper Ins. Co.*, 204 W.Va. 543, 514 S.E.2d 393 (1998) (same); Syl. Pts. 1 & 4, *Joslin v. Mitchell*, 213 W.Va. 771, 584 S.E.2d 913 (2003) (same); Syl. Pt. 2, *Starr v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 188 W.Va. 313, 423 S.E.2d 922 (1992) (same in connection with a permissive user); *Payne v. Weston*, 195 W.Va. 502, 507-12, 466 S.E.2d 161, 166-71 (1995) (liability coverage); Syl. Pt. 5, *Shamblin v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 175 W.Va. 337, 332 S.E.2d 639 (1985) (liability coverage).

was not raised first in the trial court. E.g., State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 316, 470 S.E.2d 613, 635 (1996) ("One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court likely will result' in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue ... There is also an equally salutary justification for the raise or waive rule: It prevents a party from making a tactical decision to refrain from objecting and, subsequently, should the case turn sour, assigning error (or even worse, planting an error and nurturing the seed as a guarantee against a bad result)." (citations omitted)); State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W.Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996) ("To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect.... It must be emphasized that the contours for appeal are shaped at the circuit court level by setting forth with particularity and at the appropriate time the legal ground upon which the parties intend to rely." (citation omitted)); Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ., 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993) ("Our general rule in this regard is that, when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal."); Noble v. West Virginia Dept. of Motor Vehicles, 223 W.Va. 818, 821, 679 S.E.2d 650, 653 (2009) (same); State v. Sites, 241 W.Va. 430, 438-39, 825 S.E.2d 758, 766-68 (2019); State v. Trail, 236 W.Va. 167, 185-86, 778 S.E.2d 616, 634-35 (2015); State v. Larry A.H., 230 W.Va. 709, 716 n. 19, 742 S.E.2d 125, 132 n. 19 (2013); State v. Proctor, 227 W.Va. 352, 359-60, 709 S.E.2d 549, 556-57 (2011); Perrine v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Co., 225 W.Va. 482, 530-32, 694 S.E.2d 815, 863-65 (2010); Hanlon v. Logan County Bd. of Educ., 201 W.Va. 305, 315-16, 496 S.E.2d 447, 457-58 (1997); Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd., 196 W.Va. 692, 703 & 706-07, 474 S.E.2d 872, 883 & 886-87 (1996).

2. The provision against duplicate payments does not apply to a payment of underinsured motorist benefits that is intended to help fully compensate an injured party when the liability limits are insufficient to do so and is not intended to provide duplicate payments for the same elements of loss, the latter of which is what is intended to be prevented by such provision.

In any event, such provision against duplicate payments does not apply to a payment of underinsured motorist benefits that is intended to help fully compensate an injured party when the liability limits are insufficient to do so and is not intended to provide "duplicate payments for the same elements of loss[,]" the latter of which is what is intended to be prevented by such provision. See A.R. 110. Any contrary conclusion would make the existence of underinsured motorist coverage for which premiums had been paid illusory and would violate the law of West Virginia by conflicting with the spirit and intent of the uninsured and underinsured motorist statutes that have been already discussed herein. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 6, Cox v. Amick, supra; Syl. Pt. 4, State Automobile Mut. Ins. Co. v. Youler, supra; Syl. Pt. 1, Pritavec v. Westfield Ins. Co., supra; Syl. Pt. 2, Kronjaeger v. Buckeve Union Ins. Co., supra; Syl. Pt. 5, Pritavec v. Westfield Ins. Co., supra; Syl. Pt. 5, Arndt v. Burdette, supra; Kronjaeger v. Buckeye Union Ins. Co., 200 W.Va. at 579, 490 S.E.2d at 666; Adkins v. Meador, 201 W.Va. at 153, 494 S.E.2d at 920 ("Accordingly, if the language of Liberty Mutual's policy does not comply with the broad terms of W.Va. Code, 33-6-31, then the policy language is void and the policy must be construed to contain the coverage provided for by statute.").<sup>2</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The only cases cited by the Appellant in support of this second assignment of error are those it discussed before the Circuit Court in connection with its then-second argument concerning the alleged applicability of the family use exclusion. Appellees will address why such cases do not apply to the facts of this case below in subsection 4.

# 3. The Appellant has failed to raise its second argument before the Circuit Court that was premised upon the alleged applicability of the "family use exclusion" as an assignment of error in this appeal and to otherwise appropriately brief it.

The Appellant's second argument before the Circuit Court was that the "family use exclusion" contained in the Milbank policy prevents the payment of both liability and underinsured motorist limits in this case. However, as found by the Circuit Court, while the family use exclusion may prohibit payment of both liability and underinsured motorist limits for the same motor vehicle insured thereunder, it does not prohibit the payment of both such limits when the liability limits are paid for a vehicle insured under the policy and the underinsured motor vehicle limits are paid for a vehicle that is insured by a separate insurance policy issued by a different insurer to the tortfeasor. *See* A.R. 163-164.

Perhaps recognizing the frivolousness of such prior argument when viewed under the facts of this case, the Appellant chose not to expressly raise the family-use exclusion argument on this appeal; thereby waiving it for purposes of this appeal. *See, e.g.,* Syl. Pt. 6, *Addair v. Bryant,* 168 W.Va. 306, 284 S.E.2d 374 (1981) ("Assignments of error that are not argued in the briefs on appeal may be deemed by this Court to be waived."); *State v. LaRock,* 196 W.Va. at 302, 470 S.E.2d at 621 ("Although we liberally construe briefs in determining issues presented for review, issues which are not raised, and those mentioned only in passing but are not supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal."); *Tiernan v. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc.,* 203 W.Va. 135, 140 n. 10, 506 S.E.2d 578, 583 n. 10 (1998) ("Issues not raised on appeal or merely mentioned in passing are deemed waived."); *Noland v. Virginia Ins. Reciprocal,* 224 W.Va. 372, 378, 686 S.E.2d 23, 29 (2009) (same); *Evans v. United Bank, Inc.,* 235 W.Va. 619, 629, 775 S.E.2d 500, 510 (2015) (same); *State v. Larry A.H.,* 230 W.Va. at 715-16, 742 S.E.2d at 131-32 (same); *State v. Lilly,* 194 W.Va. 595, 605 n. 16, 461 S.E.2d 101, 111 n. 16 (1995) ("casual mentioned in passing mentioned in passing by the set of the set of

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